SUPREME COURT FILED

FEB 1 4 2019

Deamstv

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA Navarrete Clerk

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

JOSEPH VEAMATAHAU,

Defendant and Appellant.

Supreme Court No. S249872

Court of Appeal No. A150689

Superior Court Case No. SF398877A

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN MATEO

Honorable Barbara Mallach, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Cynthia M. Jones SBN 226958

Avatar Legal, PC 19363 Willamette Dr. #194 West Linn, OR 97068 (858) 793-9800

Attorney for Defendant and Appellant

By appointment of the Supreme Court under the First District Appellate Project.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 19, 2015, the district attorney filed an information charging appellant, Joseph Veamatahau, with Count 1, fleeing a pursuing peace officer while driving recklessly (Veh. Code, § 2800.2, subd. (a)), Count 2, possession of cocaine base for sale (Health & Saf. Code, § 11351.5), Count 3, possession of heroin for sale (Health & Saf. Code, § 11351), Count 4, bringing a controlled substance into a correctional facility (Pen. Code, § 4573, subd. (a)), Count 5, transportation of cocaine base (Health & Saf. Code, § 11352, subd. (a)), Count 6, transportation of heroin (Health & Saf. Code, § 11352, subd. (a)), Count 7, misdemeanor possession of personal identifying information (Pen. Code, § 530.5, subd. (c)(1)), Count 8, misdemeanor possession of alprazolam (Xanax) (Health & Saf. Code, § 11375, subd. (b)(2)), and Count 9, misdemeanor driving without a license (Veh. Code, § 12500, subd. (a)). (1 CT 5-7.)¹

¹ References to the record are as follows: CT means Clerk's Transcript; RT means Reporter's Transcript; ART means Augmented Reporter's Transcript.

On June 21, 2016, appellant entered a plea of no contest to Count 1, fleeing a pursuing peace officer while driving recklessly (Veh. Code, § 2800.2, subd. (a)), and Count 4, bringing a controlled substance into a correctional facility (Pen. Code, § 4573, subd. (a)). (1 CT 119-121; 2 ART 54-55.) On June 22, 2016, Count 9, misdemeanor driving without a license (Veh. Code, § 12500, subd. (a)), was dismissed on the people's motion. (2 ART 82.) On June 28, 2016, the jury returned guilty verdicts on the remaining six counts. (1 CT 178-179; 3 ART 409-411.)

On February 3, 2017, the court suspended imposition of appellant's sentence on the felony counts and placed him on 3 years of formal probation with 1 year of local custody. (2 CT 353-358; 2 RT 16.) On the misdemeanor counts, the court sentenced appellant to 90 days concurrent with the felony sentence. (2 CT 357-358; 2 RT 19.) Appellant received credit for time served of 171 days plus an additional 170 days of good time credit (Pen. Code, § 4019). (2 CT 355; 2 RT 16.)

The notice of appeal was timely filed on February 23, 2017.² (2 CT 370.) On May 31, 2018, the First District Court of Appeal affirmed appellant's convictions. This court granted review on September 12, 2018.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 6, 2015 at 11:20 p.m., Sergeant Simmont was on patrol when he saw a black Honda Prelude make an improper right turn without signaling. (2 ART 162-163.) Appellant was the driver. (2 ART 165-166.) When appellant was searched, officers found a cellophane wrapper containing around 10 pills in appellant's coin pocket.³ (2 ART 167.)

Appellant was interview by Sgt. Simmont at the police station after he was arrested but before he was transported to the county jail.

² Appellant had filed an earlier notice of appeal on August 19, 2016 after being referred for a diagnostic evaluation under Penal Code section 1203.03. (2 CT 340) This court dismissed that appeal after concluding orders referring a defendant under Penal Code section 1203.03 were not appealable. (2 CT 349.)

³ Appellant also possessed five personal checks not in his name, cocaine and methamphetamine. These items formed the basis of the other possession charges that are not part of this appeal.

(2 ART 171.) This interview was played for the jury. (2 ART 174.) He said the pills in the cellophane were "Xanibars" and he takes 4 or 5 pills each day. (1 ACT 10.)

Scott Reinhardt, the criminalist who evaluated the narcotics found on appellant, did not do any chemical testing of the pills. (2) ART 214, 226, 232.) Although he performed chemical tests on the illicit narcotics found in appellant's possession, he stated "Generally with pharmaceuticals, we just identify the tablet based on its logo. And we don't do chemical testing on those unless requested. We do the chemical testing as necessary." (2 ART 216.) Reinhardt explained he determined the chemical composition of the pills by "[u]sing a database that I searched against with the logos that were on the tablets." (2 ART 226.) Based on the database search, he "found the tablets contain alprazolam. The generic name is Xanax."4 (2 ART 226.)

⁴ The expert was incorrect. Xanax is not a generic name for the drug, but rather a registered trademark for the specific brand of pharmaceutical held by Pharmacia & Upjohn Company LLC. (See US Patent and Trademarks Office official trademark registry for Serial Number 73172914 ("Xanax" trademark for "pharmaceutical for use as a tranquilizer and antidepressant"), available online

On cross-examination, trial counsel asked whether Reinhardt had done any chemical testing to identify the actual chemical compounds in the tablets. (2 ART 232.) He had not. (2 ART 232.) Trial counsel confirmed, "Okay. And the procedure is just to look at it and decide what it is?" to which Reinhardt responded, "exactly." (2 ART 232.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal addresses two different errors related to expert testimony about the possession of alprazolam, a controlled substance found in prescription pharmaceuticals. Argument I addresses the expert's testimony that the pills contained alprazolam based on his visual comparison with an unnamed online database that purports to identify the chemical makeup of the pharmaceuticals. Argument II addresses the expert's unsupported assumption that the pills were legitimate pharmaceuticals rather than counterfeit street pills.

http://tmsearch.uspto.gov/bin/showfield?f=doc&state=4808:r2zeki.2. 9)

Summary of Argument I:

In *People v. Sanchez* (2016) 63 Cal.4th 665 (*Sanchez*), this court held experts could not convey hearsay to the jury under the guise of relying on the hearsay as a basis of their opinion; hearsay relied on by an expert must either be introduced by a proper witness or must independently falls within a hearsay exception. In appellant's pre-*Sanchez* case, a forensic technician was permitted to testify as an expert and to convey hearsay from an unnamed database (presumably an internet website) which purported to identify the chemical makeup of pharmaceutical pills based on the pill's markings. This hearsay constituted the only evidence that appellant possessed the controlled substance alprazolam.

At issue is whether this hearsay fits within either of two possible exceptions: (a) an expert's general background knowledge or (b) a published compilation. The Court of Appeal held the testimony in this case fell within the category of expert background knowledge. This was a split from previous Court of Appeal opinions in similar cases requiring this type of evidence to satisfy the published compilation exception.

Appellant contends this type of hearsay, the contents of a website referenced by an expert specifically to render an opinion in a particular case, cannot be considered background information. Sanchez preserved the rule that an expert can convey his or her background knowledge in the area of expertise even though that knowledge is based in part on the hearsay of others. However, background knowledge refers to the composite knowledge an expert obtains through education and experience. It does not apply to an opinion a particular case.

Because hearsay from a reference source consulted by the expert cannot be considered part of an expert's background knowledge, it must be admissible under some other theory before it may be presented to a jury. With respect to online databases, the most likely hearsay exception is the published compilation exception. This exception permits introduction when certain foundational facts are established that ensure the reliability and accuracy of the information contained in the publication. The published compilation exception

ensures the accuracy and reliability of a source publication by requiring the proponent to establish certain foundational facts. In the age of internet, with its low barrier to publication, this foundational requirement is particularly important.

In this case, the foundational requirements for the published compilation exception were not met. Therefore, the hearsay was improperly presented to the jury. Because this hearsay provided the only evidence that the pills found on appellant contained alprazolam, appellant's conviction must be reversed.

Summary of Argument II:

Appellant's conviction for possessing alprazolam suffers from another infirmity beyond hinging on inadmissible hearsay. Even if Reinhardt were permitted to rely on and convey the hearsay from the drug-identifying website, his opinion that the actual pills appellant possessed contained alprazolam is not supported by sufficient evidence.

Because Reinhardt relied entirely on a visual identification rather than an actual chemical test, the evidence of the makeup of the

pills was circumstantial. Where an element of an offense is based entirely on circumstantial evidence, every necessary link in a circumstantial chain must be supported by evidence in the record. Here, one major link in the chain was missing.

Reinhardt's opinion that the pills contained alprazolam rested on an assumption that the pills were legitimately produced pharmaceuticals and therefore could be presumed to contain the ingredients that corresponded with its markings. However, many pills sold on the street are counterfeit. Counterfeit pills often bear the same markings as legitimately produced pills but do not contain the same ingredient.

Because counterfeit street pills are prevalent, Reinhardt could not simply assume the pills were legitimate; some additional evidence was necessary, for instance a properly labeled prescription bottle, that indicated the pills were not counterfeit. In this case, there was no supporting evidence.

Because the fact of the pills' legitimacy was necessary to prove they contained alprazolam based on a visual identification, and because there was no evidence to prove the pills' legitimacy, the evidence was insufficient to support a conviction for possessing alprazolam.

ARGUMENT

I.

APPELLANT'S CONVICTION FOR POSSESSING ALPRAZOLAM MUST BE REVERSED BECAUSE IT WAS BASED ON HEARSAY IMPROPERLY CONVEYED THROUGH EXPERT TESTIMONY.

A. Introduction.

When appellant was searched, the arresting officer found a cellophane packet containing tablets in appellant's coin pocket. (2 ART 167.) In a recorded interview with the arresting officer, appellant referred to the pills as "bars" and "Xanibars." (1 ACT 9.)

The only evidence that the pills appellant possessed contained the controlled substance alprazolam came in the form of hearsay. Reinhardt, the forensic technician who evaluated the pills, did not do any testing or chemical analysis of the pills. (2 ART 216, 232.) Instead, Reinhardt visually compared the pills to an online database. (2 ART 214, 226.) According to that database, the markings on appellant's

pills indicated they contained the active ingredient alprazolam. (2 ART 226.)

Reinhardt did not provide the name of the database. Nor did he identify the author or publisher of the database. There is no indication in the record whether it was a subscription-based service or was openly available to the public. Reinhardt did not provide any details about the database at all.

The statement in the database that a pill bearing certain markings contains a specific ingredient was hearsay because it was an out-of-court statement admitted for the truth of the matter asserted.⁵ Hearsay is inadmissible at trial unless the proponent can establish that the hearsay falls within an exception. (Evid. Code,⁶ § 1200, subd. (b).) However, at the time of appellant's trial, courts permitted experts to convey any hearsay they relied on in forming their opinion,

⁵ Evidence Code, section 1200, subdivision (a) defines hearsay as "evidence of a statement that was made other than by a witness while testifying at the hearing and that is offered to prove the truth of the matter stated." Statements include "oral or written verbal expression." (Evid. Code, § 225.)

⁶ All further statutory references are to the Evidence Code unless otherwise specified.

reasoning the hearsay was admitted as basis of the opinion rather than for the truth of the matter asserted. (*Sanchez, supra, 63* Cal.4th 665, 679.) Two days after appellant's conviction, *Sanchez* ended this practice, holding an expert cannot "relate as true case-specific facts asserted in hearsay statements, unless they are independently proven by competent evidence or are covered by a hearsay exception." (*Id.*, at p. 686.)

On appeal, appellant argued his conviction required reversal pursuant to *Sanchez* because Reinhardt conveyed hearsay statements from the database and no hearsay exception applied. Appellant cited *People v. Stamps* (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 988 (*Stamps*), which reversed a similar conviction which was based on hearsay from a similar database.

The court below declined to follow *Stamps*, holding Reinhardt's testimony did not run afoul of *Sanchez* because, according to the opinion, the statements were not "case-specific hearsay" but rather "background information," which *Sanchez* still permits an expert to convey:

As we will explain, Rienhardt's testimony comprised two distinct parts. His testimony about the appearance of the pills, though case specific, was not hearsay because it was based on his personal observation. His testimony about the database, while hearsay, was not case specific, but the type of general background information which has always been admissible when related by an expert. Thus, under our reading of *Sanchez*, both parts of Rienhardt's testimony were admissible.

(*People v. Veamatahau* (2018) 24 Cal.App.5th 68, 73 [p. 8]⁷ (*Veamatahau*).)

Sanchez did distinguish "case-specific hearsay", which requires a hearsay exception, from an expert's "general knowledge" or "background information," which may be conveyed even if it technically involves some level of hearsay. The hearsay from the database in this case, however, cannot be said to fall within the category of "general knowledge" or "background information." Rather, Stamps and the cases following it provide the correct framework that information contained in an online database is case-specific hearsay which cannot be conveyed by an expert unless it is proved by competent evidence or falls within a hearsay exception.

⁷ Pagination to the Slip Opinion attached to appellant's Petition for Review is provided in brackets for the convenience of the court.

As several cases following *Stamps* have recognized, the most relevant hearsay exception for an online database will usually be the published compilation exception set forth in Evidence Code section 1340. However, in this case the foundational requirements for the published compilation exception were not met. Because the hearsay conveyed by Reinhardt was the only evidence that the pills contained alprazolam, appellant's conviction must be reversed.

B. Standard of Review and Forfeiture.

The court below agreed the *Sanchez* argument was not forfeited in this case. (*Veamatahau*, *supra*, 24 Cal.App.5th at p. 72 [p. 6].) The Attorney General did not file an answer to the petition for review or otherwise try to assert forfeiture or waiver to prevent review in this court. In granting review, this court indicated the merits of the issue were to be addressed and did not request the parties address forfeiture. However, in an abundance of caution appellant notes that the forfeiture doctrine should not apply to cases tried before *Sanchez*.

Where the law on admission of evidence changes after an appellant's trial, "'[t]he new rule is applied retroactively and governs

all cases pending on appeal or not yet final, even if the new rule presents a "clear break" with the past." (*People v. Jeffrey G.* (2017) 13 Cal.App.5th 501, 507.) A challenge based on the new rule is not forfeited by failure to object, as trial counsel is not required to bring an objection that would be futile under the old rule and is not required to anticipate a ruling significantly change the prevailing law. (*Ibid.*) This applies to challenges based on *Sanchez* to the admission of expert testimony. (*Ibid*; see also *People v. Flint* (2018) 22 Cal.App.5th 983, 996-998.)

Where the law has changed after a trial court's evidentiary ruling, the reviewing court must necessarily address the admissibility de novo. (*People v. Cervantes* (2004) 118 Cal.App.4th 162, 173 [determining whether a statement was testimonial after *Crawford v. Washington* (2004) 541 U.S. 36 [124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177].) Furthermore, a question of whether a particular statement falls within the ambit of an evidentiary statute is a legal question which is subject to de novo review. (*People v. Franzen* (2012) 210 Cal.App.4th 1193, 1205 (*Franzen*) [finding of historical facts bearing on admissibility

must be upheld so long as supported by substantial evidence, but application of governing legal principles, including the meanings of statutory terms, is subject to independent review].)

C. Sanchez Reconciled the Rule Prohibiting Admission of Hearsay with the Rules Permitting an Expert to Rely on Inadmissible Hearsay and to Explain the Basis of His Opinion.

Sanchez clarified the arguably contradictory evidentiary rules governing reference to hearsay in expert testimony. While the Evidence Code generally does not permit admission of hearsay evidence, it does permit an expert to rely on inadmissible evidence made known to the expert, including hearsay. (§ 801, subd. (b).) The expert is also permitted to give the basis for his or her opinion to the jury. (§ 802.) Rigidly read, these rules meant an expert could rely inadmissible evidence and explain to the jury the "matter' upon which he relied, even if the matter would ordinarily be inadmissible." (Sanchez, supra, 63 Cal.4th at p. 679.)

Sanchez noted that historically, an expert could only rely on hearsay if it was background information. (Sanchez, supra, 63 Cal.4th at p. 678.) An expert could neither rely on nor disclose inadmissible

case-specific hearsay. (*Ibid.*) However, two common law exceptions permitted an expert to rely on and convey case-specific hearsay that involved property valuations or medical diagnoses. (*Ibid.*) These common law exceptions were the basis for the more generalized expert opinion rules later incorporated into the Evidence Code. (*Ibid.*) However, the adoption of the generalized rules led to a conflict between the hearsay rules and the expert witness rules:

Accordingly, in support of his opinion, an expert is entitled to explain to the jury the "matter" upon which he relied, even if that matter would ordinarily be inadmissible. When that matter is hearsay, there is a question as to how much substantive detail may be given by the expert and how the jury may consider the evidence in evaluating the expert's opinion. It has long been the rule that an expert may not "under the guise of reasons [for an opinion] bring before the jury incompetent hearsay evidence." ([People v. Coleman (1985) 38 Cal.3d 69, 92].)

(Sanchez, supra, 63 Cal.4th at p. 679.)

In the years leading up to the *Sanchez* decision, courts attempted to reconcile this inherent inconsistency of allowing experts to provide inadmissible hearsay to the jury by using a limiting instruction. The instruction told the jury that the hearsay could be considered for the basis of the expert's opinion, but not for the truth

of the matter asserted. (*Sanchez, supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 679.) However, *Sanchez* concluded this was an impossible task; a juror cannot consider hearsay as a basis for an expert's opinion without also considering whether the matter asserted in the hearsay is true. (*Id.* at p. 684.)

Sanchez held that, because inadmissible hearsay cannot be presented to the jury for its truth in the guise of the basis of expert opinion, it follows an expert cannot rely on or convey case-specific hearsay unless it has been properly admitted through an applicable hearsay exception. (Sanchez, supra, 63 Cal.4th at p. 684.) However, Sanchez also noted:

Our decision does not call into question the propriety of an expert's testimony concerning background information regarding his knowledge and expertise and premises generally accepted in his field. Indeed, an expert's background knowledge and experience is what distinguishes him from a lay witness, and, as noted, testimony relating such background information has never been subject to exclusion as hearsay, even though offered for its truth. Thus, our decision does not affect the traditional latitude granted to experts to describe background information and knowledge in the area of his expertise. Our conclusion restores the traditional distinction between an expert's testimony regarding background information and case-specific facts.

(Sanchez, supra, 63 Cal.4th at p. 685.)

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