COPY

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

JOSEPH VEAMATAHAU,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S249872

SUPREME COURT

MAY 1 5 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

First Appellate District Division One, Case No. A150689 San Mateo County Superior Court, Case No. SF398877A The Honorable Barbara J. Mallach, Judge Deputy

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

⁴ For the same reason, appellant is incorrect in asserting that the type of information at issue in this case must be assessed for admissibility exclusively under the hearsay exception set forth in Evidence Code section 1340 for published compilations. (OBM 34-36; see also OBM 37-41.) Even if a subset of expert testimony might also be admissible under a hearsay exception, that does not negate its admissibility under the principles discussed in *Sanchez*; evidence is often admissible under more than one theory. Moreover, the published compilation hearsay exception is (continued...)

People v. Stamps (2016) 3 Cal.App.5th 988, upon which appellant relies, was wrongly decided. Stamps characterized a criminalist as a conduit of hearsay gleaned from a website, Ident-A-Drug, that she used to identify pills as containing controlled substances. (Id. at p. 992, fn. 2.) The court applied what it called the "paradigm shift occasioned by Sanchez." (Id. at p. 995.) It held that published information on the Ident-A-Drug website fell within the sphere of inadmissible case-specific hearsay, and outside the scope of general background knowledge that an expert may reference even if derived from hearsay. (Id. at p. 997.) Further, the appellate court expressed concern about the reliability of Internet content given the absence of standards to ensure authenticity and accuracy, and the potential for hacking. (Id. at pp. 996-997.) Stamps reversed the defendant's controlled-substance-possession conviction, holding that the website content, which was the "only evidence" identifying the pills, was inadmissible case-specific hearsay. (Id. at pp. 997-998.)

The examples of case-specific facts identified in *Sanchez* highlight the fallacy of the *Stamps* court's holding. This Court's examples of case-specific facts in *Sanchez* were: (1) the length of skid marks at the scene of an auto accident, (2) the presence of petechiae in the eyes of a murder victim, (3) the fact that an associate of the defendant has a particular tattoo, and (4) that a party to a lawsuit suffered a particular injury as a child. (*Sanchez*, *supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 677.) These facts all relate to events and participants in the litigation of a particular case, and have meaning in that

^{(...}continued) not confined to expert testimony and is subject to slightly different requirements from those governing expert background information. (See *post*, Arg. I. C.) This suggests that the section does not supplant the principles permitting expert background testimony even if the two theories of admissibility might overlap in some circumstances.

context. Consistent with these examples, the notable case-specific facts in *Stamps* were that the police seized from the defendant pills that looked a certain way. *Stamps*'s conclusion that information from a neutral online pharmaceutical database likewise fell into this category is wrong. Similar to the information in the database at issue here, the information contained in the website in *Stamps* was not case-specific because it did not provide any facts about the events and participants at issue in the prosecution. It was general background information conveyed to the jury to help it evaluate the expert's opinion about the nature of the actual pills. In terms of the syllogism previously discussed, *Stamps* categorized the database information as a minor premise when it was a major premise—a general principle derived from the expert's background knowledge.⁵

Moreover, the analysis in *Stamps* relied heavily on concerns about the reliability and accuracy of online resources. (See *Stamps*, *supra*, 3 Cal.App.5th at pp. 996-997.) But that is a separate issue from whether the material constituted case-specific hearsay. The accuracy and reliability of material considered by an expert is already subject to vetting by trial courts at the threshold. *Stamps* itself recognized that "trial courts . . . are charged with an important gatekeeping 'duty' to exclude expert testimony when necessary to prevent unreliable evidence and insupportable reasoning from coming before the jury." (*Id.* at pp 994, 996 & fn. 3.) As noted, Evidence Code sections 801 et seq. provide the tools for discharging this duty.

⁵ Professor Imwrinkelried has documented other instances of commentators and courts making the same error of conflating the major and minor premises of expert testimony. (See Edward J. Imwinkelried, *The Bases' of Expert Testimony: The Syllogistic Structure of Scientific Testimony* (1998) 67 N.C. L.Rev. 1, 3-8.)

Stamps' conflation of these concepts undermines its reasoning as to the relevant hearsay question.⁶

Nor is appellant correct in asserting that an expert's consultation of a specific resource in forming an opinion in a particular case converts background information into case-specific hearsay. (OBM 28-42.) He argues that expert background information refers to knowledge that is "garnered over the course of a career from various sources that cannot be disentangled" (OBM 30) and thus, "statements in sources consulted by an expert to form an opinion in a particular case are [case-specific] hearsay and not part of an expert's general knowledge" (OBM 42). Appellant's cramped interpretation of expert background information is not supported by authority and would unjustifiably narrow the scope of permissible expert testimony. An expert often acquires background knowledge in preparation for a given case. The question for an expert may require reading a particular journal article for the first time, or consulting a page of the Physician's Desk Reference never before consulted, or researching the characteristics of a particular class of drugs the expert never before had occasion to research. Doing any of these things in preparation for a specific case does not alter the character of the information acquired. It remains

⁶ Appellant does not appear to challenge the admission of Rienhardt's testimony as improper under these evidentiary gatekeeping rules, but argues only that the testimony constituted case-specific hearsay within the meaning of *Sanchez*. Any claim that Rienhardt's testimony violated Evidence Code sections 801 et seq. was forfeited. (See Evid. Code., § 353; *People v. Anderson* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 543, 586 ["a challenge to the admission of evidence is not preserved for appeal unless a timely and specific objection" is made at trial].) It was well established even before *Sanchez* that courts could exclude unreliable background testimony under the rules governing expert witnesses. (See generally, 1 Witkin, Cal. Evidence (5th ed. 2012) Opinion Evidence, § 37, pp. 657-658.)

general background information that has been "acquired through [the expert's] training and experience, even though th[e] information may have been derived from conversations with others, lectures, study of learned treatises, etc." (Sanchez, supra, 63 Cal.4th at p. 675.)

This Court's description of expert background information in *Sanchez* is broader than the interpretation appellant proposes. There is no qualification in *Sanchez* that the expert must not have referred to a specific source in preparing for the testimony in the case. Nor should there be. It would make little sense to require the proponent of expert testimony to independently introduce potentially voluminous publications, data sets, or treatises that the expert consulted for a particular case in reaching his or her opinion in order to reestablish generally accepted, non-case-specific factual premises. The very reason for "the traditional latitude granted to experts to describe background information and knowledge in the area of his expertise" is to avoid those unnecessary and substantial practical hurdles when the reliability of the background material is established under Evidence Code sections 801 et seq. (*Id.* at pp. 685, 675, 678.)

Moreover, appellant's interpretation of expert background information would lead to absurd consequences. If any material consulted in preparation for a particular case constitutes inadmissible hearsay, admissibility would turn on the expert's memory rather than on the reliability of the underlying material. (See *Sanchez*, *supra*, 63 Cal.4th at p. 678 [under Evidence Code sections 801 et seq., "the reliability of the evidence is a key inquiry in whether expert testimony may be admitted"].) Thus, a psychologist who did not recall the exact symptoms of an illness and consulted a mental health reference book while forming his opinion would be unable to testify to those symptoms without introduction of the underlying source. In contrast, an expert who happened to remember the symptoms could recite them to the jury without violating hearsay rules.

The distinction, however, does nothing to heighten the probative value, accuracy, or reliability of the testimony.

C. Rienhardt's Testimony About the Database Information Was Also Independently Admissible Under Evidence Code Section 1340

Any reference to the database information in Rienhardt's testimony was additionally admissible under Evidence Code section 1340, irrespective of whether it constituted case-specific hearsay. (See Sanchez, supra, 63 Cal.4th at p. 685 [an expert "may also rely on hearsay properly admitted under a statutory hearsay exception"].) That provision states: "Evidence of a statement, other than an opinion, contained in a tabulation, list, directory, register, or other published compilation is not made inadmissible by the hearsay rule if the compilation is generally used and relied upon as accurate in the course of a business as defined in section 1270." (Evid. Code, § 1340.)

Appellant does not dispute that the database information would qualify as a compilation; he contends that the prosecution did not establish that the database Rienhardt consulted was "generally used and relied upon as accurate" in the community of criminalists. (OBM 47-48.) But Rienhardt testified that consulting the database was a generally accepted method in the scientific community of identifying pills and that there was nothing exceptional about the identification in this case. (2RT 226.) Rienhardt further stated that the use of the database was a "trust[ed]" way of identifying the pills. (2RT 233.) He had personally made similar comparisons hundreds of times. (2RT 216.) Although Rienhardt's testimony did not mirror the language of the statute, it effectively conveyed that the database is used and relied upon as accurate by experts in the field. It would not be a "trusted" and "generally accepted method" of identifying pills to use an obscure, noncredible, or error-prone database.

Appellant also argues that databases of the type used by Rienhardt generally appear to be relied upon only to presumptively identify pills. (OBM 47-48.) But that was not the testimony in this case. (See 2RT 216, 226, 232.) The record here adequately establishes that the database was used and relied upon as accurate by experts in the field to identify pills just as Rienhardt did in this case. The evidence was therefore admissible under Evidence Code section 1340. Separate from admissibility, the nature of the identification may have been one factor for the jury to consider in weighing the evidence. As explained below, an identification like the one performed by Rienhardt can form part of the substantial evidence in support of a drug possession conviction, even in the absence of a further confirmatory test. (*People v. Espinoza* (2018) 23 Cal.App.5th 317, 322.)

People v. Mooring (2017) 15 Cal. App. 5th 928 is instructive. In *Mooring*, a criminalist used the Ident-A-Drug website to identify pills by comparing their color, shape and markings to the images in Ident-A-Drug. (Id. at p. 932.) The expert testified at trial that the method was generally accepted in the scientific community and that Ident-A-Drug is a subscription-based service that contains information derived from the FDA and pharmaceutical pill manufacturers. (Id. at p. 938.) The court held that the expert's testimony discussing the database fell within the published compilation exception to the hearsay rule under Evidence Code section 1340, reasoning that the trustworthiness of the website was assured because the business community generally uses and relies upon the compilation and because its author knows the work will have no commercial value unless it is accurate. (Id. at p. 937; see also Espinoza, supra, 23 Cal.App.5th at pp. 321-322 [agreeing with *Mooring* that the Ident-A-Drug website falls within the published compilation hearsay exception].) Here, as in Mooring, the trial evidence established that consultation of the database was an accepted method in the scientific community for identifying pills. (2RT 226.) The

database is generally used and relied upon as accurate, and there appears no reason to doubt the accuracy of the database in light of its customary use by experts in the field.

This case is unlike People v. Franzen (2012) 210 Cal. App. 4th 1193, upon which appellant relies, for the reasons stated in Mooring. (OBM 48.) In Franzen, the Court of Appeal determined that there was insufficient evidence to show that a phone list on a website was admissible under the published compilation exception of Evidence Code section 1340. (Franzen, supra, 210 Cal.App.4th at p. 1209.) The evidence showed that the prosecution's expert had merely found the information on a website, but no evidence established that the list was reliably compiled and published within the meaning of the hearsay exception, and "there was a complete failure of proof" on whether experts in the field generally used and relied on the website. (Id. at pp. 1209-1211, 1214.) Unlike in Franzen, use of the database Rienhardt testified about was a "generally accepted method" among criminalists for identifying pills according to their FDA-required markings. (2RT 226; see Mooring, supra, 15 Cal.App.5th at pp. 939-940.) The record here thus supports the admissibility of the database information under the published compilation hearsay exception.

D. Any Error in Admitting Rienhardt's Testimony About the Database Was Harmless

To the extent Rienhardt's expert opinion testimony related inadmissible hearsay, the error was harmless. Erroneous admission of such evidence is reviewed under the state standard for harmless error enunciated in *People v. Watson* (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836. (*Stamps, supra*, 3 Cal.App.5th at p. 997.) Under *Watson*, "[t]he reviewing court must ask whether it is reasonably probable the verdict would have been more favorable to the defendant absent the error." (*People v. Partida* (2005) 37 Cal.4th 428, 439.)

Here, independent of Rienhardt's testimony about the database, there was other compelling evidence that the pills were alprazolam. There was no dispute that the items recovered from appellant had the general physical characteristics of pharmaceutical pills. The prosecution introduced into evidence the pills themselves (2RT 167, 326), and Rienhardt testified that there were 12 tablets with a total weight of 3.248 grams (2RT 226). As to their character, appellant admitted taking the "Xanibar" pills daily. When asked how many he took, appellant said, "I don't know, a lot. Until I feel good" (ACT 9-10), or about four or five pills a day (ACT 10). These statements constituted an admission that the pills had an intoxicating effect—further evidence that appellant thought he was taking a controlled substance. Moreover, Sergeant Simmont, who had extensive experience in narcotics investigations, searched appellant and found what he called "Xanax" pills wrapped in cellophane. (2RT 167-168.) Lastly, there was no evidence that the pills were counterfeits or were any other sort of substance. (See Stamps, supra, 3 Cal.App.5th at p. 998 [indicating that supplemental evidence, such as testimony about whether the pills are counterfeits, is relevant to the harmless error analysis].)

In light of this evidence, it is not reasonably probable the verdict for the possession-of-alprazolam count would have been more favorable to appellant if Rienhardt had not testified about the details of the pharmaceutical database.

II. APPELLANT'S CONVICTION FOR POSSESSION OF ALPRAZOLAM WAS SUPPORTED BY SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE

Appellant contends substantial evidence of his possession of alprazolam is lacking. He claims Rienhardt's visual recognition of the markings on the pills indicating alprazolam was inadequate proof because no evidence established that a legitimate pharmaceutical company made the pills following FDA regulations. (OBM 50-65.) But California law does

not require such particularized evidence. Rienhardt's expert testimony, in addition to appellant's admissions and Sergeant Simmont's testimony, was substantial circumstantial evidence that the pills were alprazolam.

A. Standard of Review

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